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Photo 1.  View north from 85 Atlantic Road.
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	Town/City:  	Gloucester

	Place (neighborhood or village): 
		Bass Rocks (East Gloucester)

	Name of Area: 	Bass Rocks Area

	Present Use:	residential

	Construction Dates or Period:	 ca. 1881-1926

	Overall Condition:	good to excellent

	Major Intrusions and Alterations:
Dormers, replacement sash, rear additions, porch infill.  Four 21st century houses.	

	Acreage:	4.52 acres
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Use as much space as necessary to complete the following entries, allowing text to flow onto additional continuation sheets.

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION    
Describe architectural, structural and landscape features and evaluate in terms of other areas within the community. 

The Bass Rocks Area lies along Atlantic Road in East Gloucester, just south of Good Harbor Beach and the intersection of Atlantic Road, Nautilus Road, and Bass Rocks Road.  The survey area extends southward nearly to Moorland Road.  The linear district is densely built with large houses on typically small, narrow lots to the west of Atlantic Road.  Eighteen of the properties contain single-family houses of wood frame construction; several also have garages.  To the east of this waterfront thoroughfare are undeveloped parcels along the rocky coastline; most of the side lot lines here are extensions of the developed properties on the inland side of the road. 

Large, high-style summer estates are located along Souther Road, to the west of the inventoried area, and on the peninsula accessed by Bass Rocks Road, to the northeast.  A late 20th century motel on a large open parcel borders the area on the south.  

Topographically, this stretch of Atlantic Road is generally flat.  The road curves up and to the west at the northern end of the survey area and bends to the east at the southern end.  The terrain rises gently and steadily up to the west from Atlantic Road; the ocean is a steep drop down to the east from the roadway.  Exposed boulders and ledge are common, especially in the northern section of the survey area, where many properties also have stone retaining walls at the rear property line.

A narrow, asphalt-paved sidewalk flanked by a low metal guardrail lines the eastern side of Atlantic Road.  The developed properties on the west side of the road have a consistent, modest front setback and narrow side setbacks.  Most of the houses have some form of definition at the street edge, most commonly a hedge or low stone wall, occasionally stone bollards with metal pickets.  Lawns and shrubbery occupy most of the front yards; several buildings (mainly the 21st century infill) in the center of the survey area have paved parking areas in the front.  Original or early garages are typically small and set in the back corners of the property.   Driveways in the side setback are common, covered with a wide variety of materials.

Houses in the Bass Rocks Area characteristically rise 2 to 2 ½ stories above a raised basement to a prominent hip, gable, or gambrel roof; the latter two roof shapes are most often set end to the street.  Building volumes are typically picturesquely shaped and elaborated with multiple dormers and generous front porches.  Although a few examples of granite rubble foundations were noted, most of the visible foundations are formed of poured concrete or concrete block (a few with rubble veneer), undoubtedly reflecting repeated exposure to storm surges in the late 20th and early 21st century.  

Exterior walls are sheathed in wood shingles unless otherwise noted; asphalt shingles clad the roofs.  Often wrapping around more than one elevation, the area’s ubiquitous porches feature Tuscan columns or plain posts supporting shed or hip roofs and are lined by wood balustrades or solid low walls.  Entrances are typically not prominent design elements, literally overshadowed by large porches.  Windows usually contain 1/1 double-hung sash with simple flat or molded casings; replacement sash is prevalent.  Roof edges are occasionally ornamented with bracketed eaves or exposed rafter ends.  In general, decorative detail is restrained, with an emphasis on architectural form and texture.  Architectural designs throughout the survey area are variegated and typically asymmetrical, with eclectic variations of Colonial Revival being the most prevalent style.  Notable examples of the Queen Anne and Craftsman styles are also present. 

Following are descriptions of representative and particularly unusual buildings, arranged sequentially by street address and moving north to south through the inventoried area.

The cubical form of 43 Atlantic Road (ca. 1900, Photo 5) rises two stories above a fully exposed, poured concrete basement level to a hip roof.  An L-shaped porch wraps around the front and north elevations and features single and paired square posts; the front portion of the porch is recessed below the second story.  Second story walls flare out slightly at the base; a large semicircular opening is centered on the second floor of the façade.  Deep roof eaves contain exposed rafter ends, characteristic of the Craftsman style.  

45 Atlantic Road (ca. 1885, Photo 6) is an unassuming, T-shaped building that rises 2 stories to a hip roof.  Dominating the 2-bay façade is a plain U-shaped porch that wraps around the front and sides of the house, comprising plain square posts and a wood balustrade.  Notable architectural features include an offset, two-bay projecting entrance pavilion and a 2-story angled bay window on the north side.

51 Atlantic Road (ca. 1900, Photo 7) displays a handsome Colonial Revival style on its rectangular main block, rising 2 ½ stories from a rubble foundation to a side-gambrel roof.  The dominant volume of the roof is embellished with a large, pedimented center dormer with angled sides, eave brackets, and a lunette window in the tympanum, flanked by narrow shed-roofed dormers.  An ample porch across the full width of the façade consists of fieldstone piers, a shingled knee wall, and paired Tuscan posts.  

The eclectic, 2 ½ story residence at 53 Atlantic Road (ca. 1905, Photo 8) takes advantage of its corner site with a large front-gable façade on Atlantic Road and its major entrance on Tragabigzanda Road.  On the imposing façade, the recessed first story contains a pair of wide bow windows; the second story is supported by a full-length recessed porch with chunky square posts and a projecting center bay.  On the similar front and back gables, the half-story projects slightly and the eaves are embellished with exposed purlin ends and simple carved brackets.  The main entrance is offset on a one-story projection on the north (Tragabigzanda Road) elevation; it features a single-leaf door flanked by a French door on each side. 

One of the smallest houses in the Bass Rocks Area, the Queen Anne style house at 55 Atlantic Road (ca. 1881-1884, Photo 9) is L-shaped and rises 1 ½ stories to a front gable roof with deep, simply bracketed eaves; no gable returns.  An L-shaped porch with square posts and delicately sawn brackets wraps around the front and north sides of the building, spanned by a wood balustrade.  Steeply pitched, gabled dormers on the sides of the building are flush with the lower walls.

The large and boldly-designed house at 65 Atlantic Road (1903, Photo 10) enlivens its 2 ½ story, hip-roofed core with a two-story polygonal tower at the southeast corner.  A generous, L-shaped front porch follows the silhouette of the façade and corner tower and features substantial Doric columns and a simple wood balustrade.  The roof edge is ornamented with shaped exposed rafter ends at the main roof, tower, and multiple dormers.  

The largest and most distinctively sited residence in the Bass Rocks Area is located at 71 Atlantic Road (ca. 1926, Photo 11).  Set at the corner of Atlantic and Windermere roads, the house has a deep front setback planted in open lawn.  The L-shaped main block is a bulky 2 ½ stories with a high hip roof and deep eaves.  A one-story semi-circular porch on the Atlantic Road façade contains wide fieldstone piers, modern picture window infill, and a modest bracketed eave.  The main entrance is located on the Windermere Road elevation, recessed behind a long porch with wood-shingled piers; the doorway has diamond-paned, full-height sidelights and a fanlight.  Windows are typically grouped in trios and quartets.  A large one-story ell extends towards the south from the rear of the main block.

Garages and other outbuildings, when present, are typically small in scale and located at back corners of the lots.  They usually feature end-gable roofs, one vehicle bay, and utilitarian character.  Cladding varies from wood shingles to stucco veneer.  Some appear to have been converted to residential use.  The small garage at the back of 47 Atlantic Road is 1-story high, with a front-gabled roof, stucco cladding, and flat wood trim (Photo 12).  Set in the northwest corner of the lot at 53 Atlantic Road is a small front-gable cottage (ca. 1909-1917) with shingled walls, exposed rafter ends, and a small simple bracket in the gable peak facing Tragabigzanda Road.  Likely built as a garage, this building is now in residential use and has an offset entrance and picture window on its street façade (Photo 13).

The most common architectural alterations within the Bass Rocks Area are re-built foundations, modern picture window units, replacement window sash, filling-in of several front porches, and small-scale rear additions.   Four large new houses (57, 59, 61, and 67 Atlantic Road) were constructed in the early 21st century and are remarkably congruent.  The inventoried area is otherwise well preserved and maintained, and remains one of Gloucester’s largest surviving clusters of turn-of-the-20th century, middle-class summer houses.  It is distinguished by a rhythmic street edge created by consistent spacing, setbacks, materials, forms, and scale, as well as its extraordinary waterfront setting.  


HISTORICAL NARRATIVE     
Explain historical development of the area.  Discuss how this relates to the historical development of the community. 

Encompassing late 19th-century summer homes on Gloucester’s Back Shore – two miles northeast of Central Gloucester and one-half mile northeast of the village at East Gloucester – the Bass Rocks Area illustrates significant oceanfront resort development in the city.  Following the establishment of large summer hotels (none extant), historic properties in this area as a group reflect a second phase of summer development at Bass Rocks, characterized by the construction of privately owned seaside “cottages” with ocean views, distinct from later oceanfront estates on Atlantic Road farther south and generally more modest settlement, typically of a year-round nature, on interior streets to the west.  The Bass Rocks Area was associated with individuals important in the subdivision and seasonal development of the Back Shore in the last quarter of the 19th century, including generations of families from Massachusetts and out-of-state as far west as Ohio, a preponderance of clergymen, and bankers, insurance agents, and other professionals with business interests in Lawrence and its suburbs.

Gloucester merchant George H. Rogers undertook the first summer development at Bass Rocks, on 250 acres he had acquired by 1862.  In addition to building a summer home, which became, after his death in 1870, the Bass Rock House (see below), Rogers cleared forty acres, built four miles of roads (including Atlantic Road), planted three hundred fruit trees, and made other improvements.  He subdivided the property, offering fifty summer house lots for sale in 1868 but attracting few buyers, and died $85,000 in debt.  

While Boston brewer Henry Souther (d. 1892) led the syndicate that acquired many of the Rogers parcels at auction in the early 1870s and developed them over the next two decades [Garland, 147-149], a sampling of deeds for parcels in this inventoried area indicates most originated with the Gloucester Sea Shore Company’s 1873 subdivision plan for a part of Rogers Farm at Bass Rocks.  The subdivision encompassed hundreds of parcels, ranging roughly from 1,000 to 5,000 square feet, from Beach Road to Atlantic Road.  Some were divided or combined to create the present parcels.  The trustees of the Gloucester Sea Shore Company – John H. Brown of Marblehead, a real estate broker, Horace R. Barker of Lowell, a manufacturer of gas fixtures, and George Kempton of West Roxbury (Boston), an insurance agent – sold lots beginning in 1874, with building restrictions specifying that dwellings must cost at least $400 and be set back at least fifteen feet from the street and at least five feet from adjoining parcels.  These building restrictions still appeared in deeds as late as 1899, by which time John H. Brown and his wife, Hannah, appeared to be selling the remaining parcels.  The Atlantic Road parcels were among the earliest sold and developed at Bass Rocks [Southern Essex deeds, plan book 898:300].

Members of the Kimball family, residing in New Hampshire and Massachusetts, were associated with several parcels in this inventoried area, along with the house at 65 Atlantic Road (see below).  In 1874-1875, John G. Kimball of Nashua, New Hampshire, a banker and fire insurance agent, acquired at least ten parcels on Atlantic Avenue (between the present Tragabigzanda Road and Windermere Road) from the Sea Shore Company trustees.  Boundaries on some parcels were subsequently adjusted to yield the current parcel lines.  These parcels were among the earliest developed on Atlantic Road.  In 1886, Sarah E. (Mrs. Daniel F.) Runnells of Nashua sold a former Kimball parcel at 55 Atlantic Road (ca. 1881-1884), with the house and furnishings, to sisters Martha E. (Laurie) Yatman of Dedham, Massachusetts and Annie (Laurie) Brooks of Springfield, Massachusetts.  The Yatman family, who later moved to Providence, Rhode Island, acquired full interest in the property by 1917, and summered at Bass Rocks through at least 1940.  Martha Yatman’s husband, James, was an executive with the Boston & Providence Railroad Corporation, and their son, Ellis Yatman, was employed as an attorney [Southern Essex deeds, 913:75, 1169:63, 2375:97; vital records and directories].  Assessors’ records provide a construction date of 1881 for the house, which also is shown on the 1884 atlas; further deed research is needed to confirm.  

The Rev. Charles M. Southgate (1845-1912) began summering on Atlantic Road as early as 1884, though the house associated with him at 53 Atlantic Road (ca. 1905, GLO.488) appears to be of early 20th-century design, and unlike the cottage with wrap-around porch illustrated on this site on the 1899 atlas.  A graduate of Phillips Academy at Andover, Yale University, and the Andover Theological Seminary, the Rev. Southgate was pastor of Pilgrim Church in Worcester from 1884 to 1894, and served in pastorates at Dedham (1875-1884) and Auburndale (Newton, 1895-1905).  Construction of the present house, which apparently was known as Meerheim, may date to his retirement as a pastor.  The Rev. Southgate served as superintendent of the Massachusetts Bible Society from 1906 until his death [Southgate, p. 32; maps and atlases; North Shore Blue Book].  Both the Yatman and Southgate properties remained in their respective families until at least 1940 [Polisson].

Parcels sold by Sea Shore Company trustee John Brown or his wife, Hannah, include 45 Atlantic Road (ca. 1885), 49 Atlantic Road (ca. 1900), and 51 Atlantic Road (ca. 1900).  Parker C. Kirk, an agent in Hyde Park (later Boston) for Merchant’s Woolen Mill, acquired land from John Brown in 1875 and 1877 [Southern Essex deeds, 943:249 and 977:183], selling a parcel with a house (45 Atlantic Road) in 1885.  By that time, Kirk, who resided in Dedham in the off-season, was a partner in Kirk, Hutchins & Stoddard, woolen goods manufacturers in Auburn.  He sold to Alice B. Stimson, wife of the Rev. Henry A. Stimson, one of the founders of the Worcester City Missionary Society (established in 1883) and later pastor of Manhattan Congregationalist Church in New York City.  Having moved to New York by 1903, the Stimsons sold to Emma H. Taft of Cambridge, wife of Dr. Ezra Taft, a dentist.  The house remained in the Taft family until 1939 and subsequently had several owners [Southern Essex deeds, 1145:281, 1700:229, 3178:568; directories; History of Worcester, p. 1489].  In 1899 George E. Chickering of Lawrence purchased a parcel, with building restrictions. from John H. Brown, building the house at 49 Atlantic Road.  Chickering was superintendent of schools in North Andover and subsequently worked in real estate.  The earliest Gloucester directory listing located for Chickering (as a summer resident) was in 1903.  His second wife, Ida, sold the property in 1915 to her stepchildren George W. Chickering of Arlington and Lizzie Chickering (Mrs. Louis H.) Fitch of Newton.  The property was sold out of the Chickering family in 1921 [Southern Essex deeds, 2382:205, 2504:526].  Also in 1899, Charles J. R. Humphreys of Lawrence purchased three lots at the north corner of Atlantic Road and Tragabigzanda Road from Hannah Brown (Mrs. John H.), combining them to form the parcel with the present house at 51 Atlantic Road.  Charles and Martha Humphreys maintained their summer residence here while briefly moving to Summit, New Jersey, and subsequently relocating to Andover, Massachusetts.  Humphreys, a native of England, was vice-president of a gas company.  Their son, Irving Humphreys, also summered here; he was an engineer [Southern Essex deeds, 1602:163].

The Rev. and Mrs. J. McGaw Foster appear to have built their summer home at 43 Atlantic Road (ca. 1900).  They acquired two lots in separate transactions that year from George F. Pedrick, a salesman living in Lawrence.  Rev. Foster was the rector of the Episcopal Church of the Messiah on St. Stephen Street in Boston, and the family lived on Bay State Road nearby [Southern Essex deeds, 2758:34, 3271:106].

The presence of three substantial summer hotels or “hospitality enterprises” at Bass Rocks in the late 19th and early 20th centuries appears to have precipitated construction of the private summer homes nearby.  To the north of this inventoried area, Mrs. E. G. Brown (relation to John H. Brown undetermined) operated Bass Rock House (opened 1879, burned 1896), in the former George Rogers house near Little Good Harbor Beach.  Immediately south of this area, the Pebbly Beach hotel (burned 1884) was replaced with The Moorland (opened 1896-1897, burned 1958) on Atlantic Road at Moorland Road.  Gloucester hotelier George Odiorne Stacy, joining with Edward P. Parsons and local hotel contractor John W. Day, developed and operated The Moorland, in addition to maintaining other properties (see below).  The present hotel on the site of The Moorland was built after the 1958 fire.  Inland, Eli Jackman built and operated The Thorwald (opened ca. 1915, burned 1965) on Atlantic Road between Beach and Harbor Roads.  Each of these summer hotels had a physical plant with a guest and staff capacity of 250 to 300 persons, and encompassed multiple buildings, typically a multi-purpose main building with a dining room, kitchen, and sleeping quarters for guests, an annex with additional guest quarters, detached guest cottages, recreation buildings (e.g., a casino), and servants’ quarters [Tolles, 104-105].  Bass Rocks also featured an important social institution and recreation venue east of Atlantic Road, the Bass Rocks Golf Club.  Established as a six-hole course in 1896, the course was redesigned for nine holes in 1904 and expanded to eighteen holes in 1913 [Lundberg].

Within the Bass Rocks Area, Stacy owned the house at 75 Atlantic Road (ca. 1884-1899) in 1917, though it is not clear who resided here.  A pioneer in Gloucester’s summer hotel industry, George Odiorne Stacy (1863-1928), proprietor of The Moorland, built his own Colonial Revival-style house at 107 Atlantic Road (1899, GLO.393, Phillips and Halloran, archt.; NRIND 1982), south of this inventoried area.  Best known as proprietor of the Eastern Point summer hotel Hawthorne Inn (established 1891) on Hawthorne Lane at Wonson’s Point, one of the most famous summer hotels on Cape Ann, Stacy built The Moorland at Bass Rocks about five years later and subsequently built the Colonial Arms (opened 1904, burned 1908) – considered the largest summer hotel on the North Shore – on Eastern Point between Gloucester Harbor and Niles Pond.  George Stacy had apprenticed at the Bass Rock House as a young man.  He apparently never occupied the house at 107 Atlantic Road, south of The Moorland and this area form, as his new bride, the former Jane Parker, reportedly refused to live in what was, at the turn of the 20th century, a comparatively isolated location that was nearly abandoned during the winter.  Stacy also is associated with the boulevard and esplanade that bear his name along the Inner Harbor at Central Gloucester [Cutter, 364; Tolles, 103; Garland, 197; Frontiero].  

Genealogical research is needed to establish the relationship between John G. Kimball and others of the same surname who lived on Atlantic Road in the first half of the 20th century.  William T. Kimball, a probation officer with the Essex County Superior Court in Lawrence, and his brother, Edward P. Kimball, a banker in Malden and later in Lawrence, both summered on Atlantic Road, possibly in the same house at 65 Atlantic Road (ca. 1903), constructed on land William Kimball had purchased from the Sea Shore Company trustees in 1877 and 1879.  The house does not appear to be the same dwelling shown on this approximate site in the 1899 atlas; assessors’ records list a construction date of 1903.  The Kimball family held title until 1947 [Southern Essex deeds, 977:71, 3514:289; directories].  In 1896, Edward Kimball sold the parcel to the north, now known as 63 Atlantic Road (ca. 1896, GLO.490), to Ellis Mendell, a Congregational clergyman, with the following building restrictions:  no building erected thereon should cost less than $400, and all buildings were to be constructed at least fifteen feet from the street line and at least five feet from adjacent parcels.  The Rev. Mendell (1851-1903), a graduate of Phillips Academy at Andover, Yale University, and the Yale Seminary, was pastor of the Boylston Congregational Church in Jamaica Plain (Boston) from 1888 until his death.  His widow, Clara, and children, including Clarence W. Mendell, a dean at Yale University, continued to summer in Gloucester; Clara Mendell still owned the property in 1940 [Mendell, p. 34; Polisson plan; U. S. census].

Of the properties in the Bass Rocks Area, only two were part of the Souther subdivision of 1897:  Seth and Elizabeth Mendell House, 69 Atlantic Road (1902, GLO.491), and the Edward and Blanche Weston House, 71 Atlantic Road (ca. 1926, see below), located on the north and south corners, respectively, of the Atlantic Road intersection with Windermere Road.  The other parcels in this inventoried area had already been sold (and in some cases, developed) in connection with the Gloucester Sea Shore Company subdivision.  Mary M. Beauvais of New Bedford purchased the parcel at 69 Atlantic Road from the Souther Estate in 1902.  She was the widowed sister of Ellis Mendell (see above) and Seth Mendell, both of whom maintained summer houses on Atlantic Road in the early 20th century.  After construction of the house at 69 Atlantic Road in 1902, Mary Beauvais conveyed the property later the same year to her sister-in-law, Elizabeth Mendell, wife of Seth.  A resident of Roxbury during the winter months, Seth Mendell was treasurer of the Perry Mason Company on Columbus Avenue in Boston, publisher of the widely known children’s magazine, The Youth’s Companion [Beauvais will; Southern Essex deeds 1665:274, 1689:280; directories].

The latest home constructed in the Bass Rocks Area in the historic period appears to have been 71 Atlantic Road (ca. 1926), built for Blanche P. Weston.  Located at the south corner of Atlantic Road and Windermere Road (formerly Baker Street), this house should not be confused with an earlier dwelling on the site, owned by Foster H. Smith and known as Windermere Cottage, which was set closer to Atlantic Road and present until at least 1917.  It is not clear whether Windermere Cottage burned or was removed to improve the ocean view from the Weston House; further research is needed.  Both the Weston House and its associated cottage to the rear, fronting Windermere Road, were in place by 1928 [Southern Essex deeds, Registered Land Certificate 76157, with links to plans].  Blanche P. Weston was the wife of Edward Banning Weston, president of the Weston Paper & Manufacturing Company, the Rockford Paper Mill Company, and the Auglaize Box Board Company, all of Dayton, Ohio, where the Westons maintained a winter residence.  Their daughter, Irma Delight Weston of Dayton, acquired this parcel in 1910 from the Henry Souther Estate with the restriction that no building be constructed other than a dwelling and “such small structures that are properly appurtenant thereto, excluding stables for horses or other animals” [Southern Essex deeds, 2021:494; Dayton directory].  

Maps and atlases, directories, and census records from the late 19th and 20th centuries provide limited or ambiguous 
information on the owners and occupants of houses in the Bass Rocks Area; further research is recommended.  In its illustration of parcel lines, the 1884 atlas suggests houses in this inventoried area may have been built as cottages associated with The Moorland, though selective deed research does not support this conclusion.  It is noteworthy that some building footprints changed during this period in ways that suggest some original cottages may have been redeveloped by World War I.   

For reasons still unclear, the 1917 Sanborn fire insurance map assigns letters to each house in this inventoried area, and shows multiple houses on a single parcel, suggesting each was part of a larger property, yet no evidence of this lettering system or common ownership of buildings was found in deeds.  At the same time, the 1917 Sanborn is the only historic map or atlas to include owners’ names with buildings.  House numbers evidently were not assigned until after World War II, hampering efforts to pinpoint a specific house in directories and establish connections between houses and their occupants, and houses apparently did not bear their current (2016) numbers until some time after 1965.  Census records typically do not identify the summer residents in this inventoried area, but are useful for determining winter residence locations when the owner/occupants are determined through other sources.

Further research also is needed to determine how some parcels on the eastern (shore) side of Atlantic Road came to be established and associated with houses on the western side, undoubtedly to preserve ocean views.  Parcels on the shore side were not included in either the 1873 or 1897 subdivision plans for Bass Rocks.  House parcels that have the same owners for shore parcels directly across the street are 49 Atlantic Road (with 42 Atlantic Road being the shore parcel), 53 Atlantic Road (46 Atlantic on the shore), 55 Atlantic Road (48 Atlantic on the shore), 57 Atlantic Road (50 Atlantic on the shore), 59 Atlantic Road (52 Atlantic on the shore), 61 Atlantic Road (54 Atlantic on the shore), 63 Atlantic Road (56 Atlantic on the shore), and 65 Atlantic (58 Atlantic on the shore).  The City of Gloucester owns at least three shore parcels; others are privately owned.
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Addresses reflect current Assessor’s records.
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Block
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	St. #
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	Date
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	69-2
	---
	(undeveloped land - city)
	34
	Atlantic Rd

	---
	---

	69-3
	---
	(undeveloped land - city)
	36
	Atlantic Rd

	---
	---

	69-4
	---
	(undeveloped land)
	40
	Atlantic Rd

	---
	---

	69-14
	---
	(undeveloped land)
	41
	Atlantic Rd

	---
	---

	69-5
	---
	(undeveloped land)
	42
	Atlantic Rd

	---
	---

	69-11
	GLO.>>>
	Rev. J. McGaw and Emma Foster House

	43
	Atlantic Rd

	ca. 1900
	Col. Rev. 4-square

	69-6
	---
	(undeveloped land - city)
	44
	Atlantic Rd

	---
	---

	69-10
	GLO.>>>
	Parker C. Kirk - Rev. Henry A. and Alice B. Stimson House

	45
	Atlantic Rd

	ca. 1885
	Colonial Revival

	70-7
	---
	(undeveloped land)
	46
	Atlantic Rd

	---
	---

	69-9
	GLO.>>>
	Frederick A. Singleton House

	47
	Atlantic Rd

Garage
	ca. 1900

early 20th c.
	altered Col. Rev.

No style

	70-6
	---
	(undeveloped land)
	48
	Atlantic Rd

	---
	---

	69-8
	GLO.>>>
	George E. Chickering House
	49
	Atlantic Rd

	ca. 1900
	Colonial Revival

	70-5
	---
	(undeveloped land)
	50
	Atlantic Rd

	---
	---

	69-7
	GLO.>>>
	Charles J. R. Humphreys House

	51
	Atlantic Rd

	ca. 1900
	Colonial Revival

	70-4
	---
	(undeveloped land)
	52
	Atlantic Rd

	---
	---

	70-8
	GLO.488

GLO.>>>
	Rev. Charles M. and Elizabeth Southgate House

	53
	Atlantic Rd

cottage (garage)

	ca. 1905

ca. 1909-1917
	Craftsman

No style

	70-3
	---
	(undeveloped land)
	54
	Atlantic Rd

	---
	---

	70-9
	GLO.>>>

GLO.>>>
	Runnells-Yatman House
	55
	Atlantic Rd

studio

	ca. 1881-1884

>>>
	Victorian eclectic

No style

	70-2
	---
	(undeveloped land)
	56
	Atlantic Rd

	---
	---

	70-10
	GLO.>>>
	
	57
	Atlantic Rd

	2008
	---


	70-1
	---
	(undeveloped land)
	58
	Atlantic Rd

	---
	---

	70-11
	GLO.>>>

	
	59
	Atlantic Rd

	2009
	---

	70-13
	GLO.>>>
	
	61
	Atlantic Rd

	2014
	---



	70-14
	GLO.490
	Rev. Ellis and Clara 
Mendell House

	63
	Atlantic Rd

	ca. 1896
	Colonial Revival

	70-15
	GLO.>>>
	Kimball House
	65
	Atlantic Rd

	1903
	Craftsman Colonial

	70-17
	GLO.>>>
	
	67
	Atlantic Rd

	2010
	---

	70-18
	GLO.491

GLO.>>>
	Seth and Elizabeth 
Mendell House
	69
	Atlantic Rd

cottage

	1902

1982
	Shingle style

---

	71-8
	GLO.>>>

GLO.>>>

	Edward B. and Blanche P. Weston House
	71
	Atlantic Rd

cottage

	ca. 1926

ca. 1926
	Craftsman Colonial

No style

	71-5
	---
	(undeveloped land)
	71A 
	Atlantic Rd

	---
	---

	71-4
	GLO.>>>

	Baldwin-Boice House
	73
	Atlantic Rd

	ca. 1900
	Colonial Revival

	71-1
	GLO.>>>

	E. D. Parsons House
	75
	Atlantic Rd

	ca. 1884-1899
	Colonial Revival

	71-15
	GLO.>>>

	Baker-Hubbell House
	77
	Atlantic Rd

	ca. 1905
	Colonial Revival



Notes:  	All vacant parcels are situated on the shore side of Atlantic Road except the parcel at 41 Atlantic Road.
	The house currently at 59 Atlantic Road replaces GLO.489, which has been demolished.




SKETCH MAPS (north at top)
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North section (43 Atlantic Road is at top [69-11]; 59 Atlantic Road at bottom [70-11])
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South section (59 Atlantic Road is at top [70-11]; 77 Atlantic Road at bottom [71-15)

SUPPLEMENTARY IMAGES 
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Photo 2.  View north:  51 Atlantic Road on far L, Bass Rocks Road houses on right.
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Photo 3.  49, 47, 45, 43 Atlantic Road (L to R); Bass Rocks Road houses on right.
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Photo 4.  51, 49, 47 Atlantic Road (L to R)
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Photo 5.  43 Atlantic Road




SUPPLEMENTARY IMAGES 
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Photo 6.  45 Atlantic Road
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Photo 7.  51 Atlantic Road
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Photo 8.  53 Atlantic Road
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Photo 9.  55 Atlantic Road





SUPPLEMENTARY IMAGES 
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Photo 10.  65 Atlantic Road
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Photo 11.  71 Atlantic Road
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Photo 12.  47 Atlantic Road:  garage
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Photo 13.  53 Atlantic Road:  former garage
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Continuation sheet 1


[Delete this page if no Criteria Statement is prepared]

                       National Register of Historic Places Criteria Statement Form



Check all that apply:

[bookmark: Check2]|_|  Individually eligible            |_|   Eligible only in a historic district

[bookmark: Check4]|_|  Contributing to a potential historic district         |_|  Potential historic district



[bookmark: Check5][bookmark: Check6][bookmark: Check7][bookmark: Check8]Criteria:      |_|   A       |_|    B       |_|    C    |_|    D

[bookmark: Check9][bookmark: Check10][bookmark: Check11][bookmark: Check12][bookmark: Check13][bookmark: Check14][bookmark: Check15]Criteria Considerations:      |_|   A     |_|    B     |_|   C    |_|   D     |_|    E     |_|    F      |_|    G


                   Statement of Significance by Kathleen K. Broomer and Wendy Frontiero
                            The criteria that are checked in the above sections must be justified here.
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